
 

 

UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 

FOR THE FOURTEENTH CIRCUIT 

___________________________________ 

       ) 

KOOPA COLLECTORS, Inc.,   ) 

 Appellant,    ) 

       ) 

 v.       )   No. ST-16-01 

       ) 

Donny KONG, on behalf of himself ) 

and all others similarly situated, ) 

 Appellees.    ) 

___________________________________) 

    

OPINION  

 

Before Toadsworth, Kamek, and Piranha, J.J. 

Kamek, J. 

Appellant Koopa Collectors, Inc., is a “debt collector” as 

defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6) of the Fair Debt Collection 

Practices Act (“FDCPA”). Appellee Donny Kong, is a “consumer” as 

defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(3). Kong filed this action in the 

United States District Court for the District of Stone, on 

behalf of himself and all others similarly situated, alleging 

that Koopa Collectors violated various provisions of the FDCPA. 

Pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(b)(3), the court 

certified the class. Kong alleges that Koopa Collector’s 

collection notice violated § 1692g(a)(3) of the FDCPA by stating 

that debtors could only dispute the validity of their debts in 

writing. On cross-motions for summary judgment, the district 

court granted summary judgment for Appellees, the consumer 

class, holding that § 1692g(a)(3) does not require a consumer to 
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dispute a debt only in writing, and that therefore, Appellant’s 

collection notice violated § 1692k(a) for “fail[ure] to comply 

with any provision” of the FDCPA.   

For the reasons discussed below, this Court AFFIRMS the 

district court’s class certification order and grant of summary 

judgment for Appellees.  

Facts 

 Appellant Donny Kong is a resident of Pipe City, Stone. On 

March 15, 2012, Kong was laid off from his job at Mushroom 

Factory, a company that manufactures ladders and other tools, 

where he had worked on the factory floor for fifteen years. At 

the time, Kong and his husband, Yoshi, an attorney at a large 

law firm, lived in a spacious apartment in the Bowser Building, 

a luxury high-rise. Only Kong was listed as a tenant on the 

lease; Yoshi never signed the lease. Kong began looking for work 

as soon as he was laid off, but had trouble finding a job. Kong 

has a GED but never attended college.  

Kong’s unemployment put a strain on Kong and Yoshi’s 

relationship. In March 2013, after a year of unemployment and 

fighting with Yoshi, Kong moved out of their shared apartment 

and moved in with his sister, Daisy. He sent a letter to the 

Bowser Building Leasing Company (“BBLC”), his landlord, 

notifying it that he had moved out and stating that he was 

transferring the lease to Yoshi. Unbeknownst to Kong, Yoshi did 



3 

 

not sign the lease transfer documents. Instead, Yoshi 

transferred to his law firm’s New York office, and vacated the 

apartment without notice. The apartment remained vacant for 

three months before BBLC employees discovered it empty. During 

that time, the rent had gone unpaid. 

In June 2013, Kong finally found employment as a floor 

manager at Star Plumbing Manufacturers; he continues to work 

there as of the date of this action. He moved out of Daisy’s 

house, and rented a modest studio apartment in Pipe City. He is 

separated from and has had no contact with Yoshi, although they 

remain married. Also in June 2013, Kong received a collection 

notice from Koopa Collectors, dated June 10, 2013, seeking 

collection on a debt. The collection notice stated that Koopa 

Collectors had acquired a debt from BBLC. The notice further 

explained that Kong had defaulted on his obligation to pay rent 

to BBLC, and that he owed amounts for the non-payment of rent 

and early lease termination fees. The notice stated that Kong 

owed a total of $15,500: $10,500 for three months of unpaid 

rent, plus a $5000 early lease termination fee.  

The second page of the collection notice had a section 

headed “Your Rights,” and the last paragraph of section stated: 

If you dispute the amount listed above, you must 

notify our office in writing within thirty days of the 

date printed on this letter. If you do not do so, the 

debt will be assumed valid. Our office will obtain 

verification of the debt and mail such verification to 
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you, should you dispute the debt. Please direct any 

disputes to “Dispute Department” at Koopa Collectors.  

 

Koopa Collectors does not dispute that the notice instructs a 

consumer that he must dispute his debt in writing. The 

collection notice included both a mailing address and a phone 

number for Koopa Collectors, however. The collection notice 

contained other statements required by § 1692g of the FDCPA, but 

those statements are not at issue in this case. Koopa Collectors 

included the same “Your Rights” provisions in every collection 

notice that it sent to consumers during the time period relevant 

to this suit. There is no dispute that the statement of rights 

was laid out in a manner sufficient to bring it a consumer’s 

attention.  

 On January 1, 2014, Peach’s Bakery, situated immediately 

below the Koopa Collectors offices, suffered a four-alarm fire, 

which the fire department determined was caused by improperly 

maintained exhaust vents. Smoke from the fire reached the 

building’s second floor, and destroyed all of the computers in 

the Koopa Collectors office. Koopa Collectors is a very small 

and relatively new company; it maintained no computer backup 

system and did not retain paper copies of the collection notices 

it issued. As a result, Koopa Collectors has no record of the 

collection notices it sent, to whom they were sent, or when they 

were sent. Koopa Collectors did retain and does have physical 
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copies of any written disputes sent to Koopa Collectors by 

consumers, although some of these records are also heavily 

damaged. Koopa Collectors suffered serious financial losses as a 

result of this lost information, but has steadily been 

recovering its business.  

Procedural History 

Appellee Kong filed this class action on October 8, 2013, 

seeking relief on behalf of a class of consumers, defined as 

consumers who received one or more debt collection notices from 

Appellant Koopa Collectors within the FDCPA’s statute of 

limitations. Specifically, Appellee alleges that Appellant’s 

collections notices violated § 1692g(a)(3) of the FDCPA because 

the notices stated that consumers could only dispute a debt in 

writing. Appellee alleges that § 1692g(a)(3) contains no 

requirement that a consumer may dispute a debt only in writing.  

Because Appellant has no record of the notices it sent to 

consumers, Appellee’s attorney proposed that for the purposes of 

certifying the class, potential class members could self-

identify through sworn affidavits declaring that they had 

received a collection notice from Appellant between the relevant 

dates. The district court found that the class was objectively 

defined and that self-identification of affidavits as proposed 

by Appellee’s attorney satisfied the requirements of Federal 

Rule of Civil Procedures 23(b)(3). The district court certified 
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the class. In its order, the district court noted that if the 

suit reached the damages phase, additional evidence might be 

necessary to determine exactly what harm each putative class 

member suffered and what each putative member was entitled to 

receive. Appellant timely petitioned to this Court for 

interlocutory review of the district court’s order under Federal 

Rule of Civil Procedure 23(f).  

While that petition was pending, both parties moved for 

summary judgment on the merits of the FDCPA claim, pursuant to 

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 56(a). The district court held 

that as a matter of law, Appellant violated § 1692g(a)(3) of the 

FDCPA when it sent notices to consumers that stated consumers 

must dispute their debts in writing to avoid a presumption of 

the debt’s validity. The district court found that § 1692g(a)(3) 

of the FDCPA permits consumers to dispute a debt orally as well 

as in writing. The district court therefore entered a grant of 

summary judgment on the merits for Appellees, the consumer 

class. Following the grant of summary judgment, the district 

court established a timeline for directing notice to potential 

class members as required by Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 

23(c)(2), and set a date for trial on the issue of damages. 

Appellant appealed the district court’s grant of summary 

judgment to this Court.  
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This Court subsequently granted Appellant’s Rule 23(f) 

petition for permission to appeal the district court’s class 

certification order, and took up both Appellant’s appeal from 

the grant of summary judgment and Appellant’s appeal of the 

order certifying the class. This Court will now consider these 

appeals together. As to the district court’s order certifying 

the Rule 23(b)(3) class, Appellant argues that Rule 23(b)(3) 

requires a court to apply a heightened ascertainability 

requirement before certifying a class, and that the district 

court failed to do so. As to the district court’s grant of 

summary judgment, Appellant argues that the district court erred 

in holding that § 1692g(a)(3) of the FDCPA permits a debt 

dispute to be made orally. Appellant contends that § 1692g(a)(3) 

permits only written disputes. 

Jurisdiction and Standard of Review 

The district court had jurisdiction over this action 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331. This Court has jurisdiction 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1291.  

This Court reviews a grant or denial class certification 

under an abuse of discretion standard. Grandalski v. Quest 

Diagnostics Inc., 767 F.3d 175, 179 (3d Cir. 2014). An abuse of 

discretion occurs “if the district court’s decision rests upon a 

clearly erroneous finding of fact, an errant conclusion of law 

or an improper application of law to fact.” Id. (internal 
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quotation marks and citation omitted). We review de novo whether 

a court has applied the correct legal standard in determining 

whether to certify the class. Carrera v. Bayer Corp., 727 F.3d 

300, 305 (3d. Cir. 2013). This Court also reviews de novo 

questions of statutory construction. Stone v. Instrumentation 

Lab. Co., 591 F.3d 239, 242-43 (4th Cir. 2009).   

Discussion 

Rule 23(b)(3) class action certification. 

Class actions are “an exception to the usual rule that 

litigation is conducted by and on behalf of the individual named 

parties only.” Califano v. Yamasaki, 422 U.S. 682, 701 (1979). 

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23 governs the procedures for 

certifying and conducting class action suits. “In the decades 

since the 1966 revision of Rule 23, class action practice has 

become ever more ‘adventuresome’ as a means of coping with 

claims too numerous to secure their ‘just, speedy, and 

inexpensive determination’ one by one.” Amchem Prods. v. 

Windsor, 521 U.S. 591, 618 (1997) (quoting Fed. R. Civ. P. 1).  

Rule 23(a) sets forth four threshold requirements for class 

certification: (1) numerosity, (2) commonality, (3) typicality, 

and (4) adequacy. Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a). Here, Appellant 

concedes that the Rule 23(a) requirements are met. To certify a 

class, however, a court must also find that one of the 

requirements set forth in Rule 23(b) is met. Here, the district 
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court certified the class of consumers under Rule 23(b)(3), 

which requires that “the questions of law or fact common to 

class members predominate over any questions affecting only 

individual members, and that a class action is superior to other 

available methods for fairly and efficiently adjudicating the 

controversy.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3).  

 Courts have long agreed that “Rule 23 contains an implicit 

threshold requirement that all members of a proposed class be 

readily identifiable.” Hammond v. Powell, 462 F.2d 1053, 1055 

(4th Cir. 1989). For years, federal courts applied this implied 

ascertainability requirement consistently. Since class action 

suits have expanded to cover consumer class actions, however, 

courts have become split on what a plaintiff must show to prove 

ascertainability. See Mullins v. Direct Dig., LLC, 795 F.3d 654, 

659 (7th Cir. 2015). This Court has not addressed this issue 

before.   

Appellant urges this Court to adopt the Third Circuit’s 

heightened ascertainability requirement for certifying a Rule 

23(b)(3) class. The Third Circuit requires “a plaintiff to show 

that: (1) the class is ‘defined with reference to objective 

criteria’; and (2) there is ‘a reliable and administratively 

feasible mechanism for determining whether putative class 

members fall within the class definition.’” Byrd v. Aaron’s 

Inc., 784 F.3d 154, 163 (3d Cir. 2015) (quoting Hayes v. Wal-
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Mart Stores, 725 F.3d 349, 355 (3d Cir. 2013)). According to the 

Third Circuit, the heightened ascertainability requirement is 

not satisfied “if individualized fact-finding or mini-trials 

will be required to prove class membership.” Carrera, 727 F.3d 

at 307. Appellant concedes that the Appellee class is defined by 

clear and objective criteria and thus satisfies the first prong 

of the Third Circuit’s test.1 Appellant contends, however, that 

self-identification through affidavits is not “a reliable and 

administratively feasible mechanism for determining whether 

putative class members fall within the class definition.” Id.  

This Court finds it relevant, however, that nothing in Rule 

23 requires a plaintiff to satisfy a heightened ascertainability 

requirement. We find that the “administratively feasible” 

requirement goes beyond the explicit requirements of Rule 

23(b)(3). See Mullins, 795 F.3d at 663. Moreover, additional 

requirements are unnecessary, as Rule 23(b)(3) already requires 

a rigorous assessment of a putative class. Under Rule 23 (b)(3), 

a class may not be defined vaguely and may not be defined by 

subjective criteria like state of mind. This Court rejects 

Appellant’s invitation to adopt the Third Circuit’s heightened 

ascertainability requirement. Instead, we embrace what the 

                                                 
1 In particular, Appellant agrees that the putative class here 

does not comprise an improper “fail-safe” class. Mullins, 795 

F.3d at 660. 
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Seventh Circuit refers to as a “‘weak’ version of 

ascertainability.” Mullins, 795 F.3d at 659. Under this weak 

version of ascertainability, courts focus on “the adequacy of 

the class definition itself,” not on whether “it would be 

difficult to identify particular members of the class.” Id. 

Thus, the class need only “be defined clearly and based on 

objective criteria.” Id. Appellant has already conceded that it 

is so defined, and this Court agrees. We find that identifying 

class members through affidavits satisfies Rule 23(b)(3)’s 

requirement that a class action be “superior to other available 

methods for fairly and efficiently adjudicating the 

controversy.” 

Appellant next argues that permitting class members to 

self-identify through affidavits violates its due process 

rights. “A defendant in a class action has a due process right 

to raise individual challenges and defenses to claims, and a 

class action cannot be certified in a way that eviscerates this 

right or masks individual issues.” Carrera, 727 F.3d at 307. 

Again, we disagree. “[T]he due process question is not whether 

the identity of class members can be ascertained with perfect 

accuracy at the certification stage but whether the defendant 

will receive a fair opportunity to present its defenses when 

putative class members actually come forward.” Mullins, 795 F.3d 

at 669. Certainly, Appellant “has a due process right not to pay 
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in excess of its liability and to present individualized 

defenses if those defenses affect its liability.” Id. Appellee 

has not sought, however, to establish actual damages through 

individual class members’ self-identifying affidavits. Indeed, 

the district court noted that at the damages phase, more 

rigorous evidence may be needed to prove an individual’s actual 

damages. At the class certification stage, however, we find that 

self-identifying affidavits pose no due process concerns. 

Finally, although we acknowledge that a heightened 

ascertainability requirement may keep a few fraudulent claims 

out of a class, such a requirement would also prevent many 

injured members from joining the class at all. See Mullins at 

795 F.3d at 668. Such an outcome would contravene the entire 

purpose of Rule 23 class action, which is to allow plaintiffs 

with low value claims seek a remedy as a class where individual 

suits would not be worthwhile. Id. at 669.  

For the foregoing reasons, we AFFIRM the district court’s 

certification of the Plaintiff-Appellee class. 

 

Section 1692g(a)(3) of the FDCPA 

The district court held that § 1692g(a)(3) of the FDCPA 

does not require a consumer to dispute a debt in writing. As a 

result, the district court granted summary judgment to 

Appellees, finding that Appellant’s collection notice violated § 
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1692g(a) by stating that a consumer had to dispute a debt in 

writing. Thus, the court held that Appellant was liable under § 

1692k(a) for “fail[ure] to comply with any provision” of the 

FDCPA. Appellant asks this Court to find that § 1692g(a)(3) 

requires consumers to dispute a debt in writing, and, therefore, 

to reverse the district court’s grant of summary judgment.  

The FDCPA, codified at 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692-1692p, was enacted 

in 1977 “to eliminate abusive debt collection practices by debt 

collectors, [and] to ensure that those debt collectors who 

refrain from using abusive debt collection practices are not 

competitively disadvantaged . . . .” Id. at § 1692(e). Congress 

found “abundant evidence of the use of abusive, deceptive and 

unfair collection practices by many debt collectors,” and 

recognized that existing “laws and procedures for redressing 

these issues [were] inadequate to protect consumers.” 15 U.S.C. 

§§ 1692(a), 1692(b). The FDCPA is a remedial statute that should 

be construed broadly to best protect the “least sophisticated 

debtor.” Lesher v. Law Offices of Mitchell N. Kay, PC, 650 F.3d 

993, 997 (3d. Cir. 2011).  

A circuit split has emerged regarding § 1692g, Validation 

of Debts. Under § 1692g(a), a debt collector seeking to collect 

a debt must send the consumer a written notice containing the 

amount of the debt and the name of the creditor to which it is 

owed. The notice must contain three statements explaining the 
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consumer’s rights with respect to the debt. Id. First, the 

notice must inform the consumer that “unless the consumer, 

within thirty days after receipt of the notice, disputes the 

validity of the debt, or any portion thereof, the debt will be 

assumed to be valid by the debt collector.” § 1692g(a)(3). 

Second, the notice must state that if the consumer “notifies the 

debt collector in writing within the thirty-day period that the 

debt, or any portion thereof, is disputed,” the debt collector 

will verify the debt and send the consumer a copy of that 

verification. § 1692g(a)(4). Finally, the notice must state that 

“upon the consumer’s written request within the thirty-day 

period, the debt collector will provide the consumer with the 

name and address of the original creditor.” § 1692g(a)(5).  

Notably, § 1692g(a)(4) and § 1692g(a)(5) require a consumer 

to send a written notice to the debt collector to trigger the 

protections outlined in those sections. In contrast, 1692g(a)(3) 

merely states that a consumer must “dispute the validity of the 

debt” to avoid triggering the presumption that the debt is 

valid; the section does not mention a writing. Section 1692g(b), 

however, provides that “[i]f the consumer notifies the debt 

collector in writing within the thirty-day period described in 

subsection (a)” that the consumer is disputing the debt or 

requesting information about the original creditor, the 

collector must cease collection until it verifies the debt or 
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provides the name of the original creditor. Given that § 

1692g(a)(4), § 1692g(a)(5), and § 1692g(b) explicitly refer to a 

writing, but § 1692g(a)(3) does not, courts are divided over 

whether § 1692g(a)(3) requires a consumer to dispute the 

validity of a debt in writing to avoid triggering that 

subsection’s presumption of the debt’s validity. The Supreme 

Court has acknowledged the circuit split over the proper reading 

of § 1692g(a)(3), but has declined to consider the issue. Jerman 

v. Carlisle, McNellie, Rini, Kramer & Ulrich L.P.A., 559 U.S. 

573 n.3 (2010).  

The only dispute between the parties here is whether 

Appellant’s collection notice complied with § 1692g(a)(3). 

Appellant contends that its notice complied with that provision 

because § 1692g(a)(3) implicitly requires a consumer to dispute 

a debt in writing to rebut the presumption of a debt’s validity. 

We find, however, that § 1692g(a)(3)’s plain meaning is clear 

and unambiguous and decline to insert a writing requirement 

where none is present. See Camacho v. Brigeport Fin., Inc. 430 

F.3d 1078, 1082 (9th Cir. 2005) (stating that a court should 

“only insert language into a statute if the result of the 

statute’s plain meaning is absurd.”). Section 1692g(a)(3) refers 

only to a “dispute,” while the other subsections clearly refer 

to a “writing” or “written request.” § 1692g. Therefore, we 

agree with the district court that § 1692g(a)(3) does not 
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require a consumer to dispute a debt in writing to rebut the 

presumption of the debt’s validity. 

Appellant asserts that § 1692g(a)(3)’s plain meaning is 

absurd because “the literal application of [the] statute will 

produce a result demonstrably at odds with the intentions of its 

drafters.” Griffin v. Oceanic Contractors, Inc., 458 U.S. 564, 

571 (1982). Relying on a Third Circuit opinion, Appellant 

contends that allowing a consumer to make an oral dispute under 

one subsection of § 1692g while requiring a writing to trigger 

the protections of the other subsections would create an 

“incoherent system.” Graziano v. Harrison, 950 F.2d 107, 112 (3d 

Cir. 1991). Appellant contends that despite its plain language, 

§ 1692g(a)(3) should be interpreted to have the same 

requirements as § 1692g’s other provisions. Appellant asserts 

that any other reading would lead to inconsistent results, 

contrary to Congress’s intention “to promote consistent State 

action to protect consumers against debt collection abuses.” 15 

U.S.C. § 1692(e).  

We recognize that § 1692g may be somewhat confusing, but we 

are bound to follow the statute’s plain language. “[C]onsumers 

can comprehend the statute’s plain language,” and a collection 

notice that simply repeats the exact statutory language will not 

confuse consumers. Camacho, 430 F.3d at 1082. Although reading § 

1692g(a)(3) to allow oral notice, while adjacent subsections 
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require written notice, makes for a more complex scheme than one 

in which all disputes must be in writing, it is the scheme that 

Congress chose. “[W]hen a statute speaks with clarity to an 

issue judicial inquiry into the statute’s meaning in all but the 

most extraordinary circumstances is finished.” Brady v. Credit 

Recovery Co., 160 F.3d 64, 66 (1st Cir. 1998). 

For the foregoing reasons, we AFFIRM the order of the 

district court granting summary judgment for the Plaintiff-

Appellee class.  

The case is remanded to the district court for further 

proceedings. 

 

Filed: February 11, 2015 
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SUPREME COURT OF THE UNITED STATES 

 

______________________________ 

      ) 

KOOPA COLLECTORS, Inc.  ) 

 Petitioner,   ) 

      ) 

 v.      )    No. ST-16-01 

      ) 

Donny KONG, et al.,           ) 

 Respondents.   ) 

______________________________) 

  

     

 

ORDER GRANTING CERTIORARI 

 The Supreme Court of the United States hereby grants Koopa 

Collector’s Petition for a Writ of Certiorari to the United 

States Court of Appeals for the Fourteenth Circuit. This Court 

will consider all issues raised in the court below. 

 

 

___________________ 

Luigi Shell,  

 Clerk 

 

 

Dated: September 22, 2016 

 


